0d-S
			FILED SID J. WHITE
I	N THE	SUPREME	E COURT OF FLORIDA NOV 7 1997
SHAWN THOMAS,		:	CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk
Petitio	ner,	:	
ν.		:	CASE NO. 91,719
STATE OF FLORIDA,		:	
Respond	ent.	:	
<u> </u>		/	

2

# JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

GLEN P. GIFFORD Assistant Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit Fla. Bar No. 0664261 301 S. Monroe, Suite 401 Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

##

#### JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is before the court on discretionary review from the First District Court of Appeal. The jurisdictional basis is express and direct conflict with a decision of the supreme court of another district court of appeal.

The pertinent facts are as follows:

During deliberations in Thomas' trial on charges of sale of cocaine and possession of cocaine, the judge announced to the attorneys that the jury had sent him a question concerning a discrepancy in the year written on State Exhibits 1 and 2, the bag containing purported cocaine and the laboratory report.

(T108)<sup>1</sup> The judge informed counsel that he had directed the bailiff to "advise the jury that they should consider that as part of the evidence and continue to deliberate on their verdict." The court asked counsel if either had an objection. (T108) Both replied in the negative, but defense counsel asked if the judge had communicated with the jurors strictly through the bailiff. (T109) The judge replied in the affirmative. (T109) Immediately after this exchange, the jury returned and rendered its verdict finding appellant guilty of sale of cocaine and possession of cocaine as charged. (R13-14, T109)

On appeal, Thomas argued that in answering the jury's question without notice to counsel and without conducting the jury into the courtroom, the judge violated Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410 and committed *per se* reversible error under <u>Ivory v. State</u>, 351 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1977), <u>Curtis v. State</u>, 480 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 1985), <u>State v. Franklin</u>, 618 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1993) and <u>Mills v. State</u>, 620 So. 2d 1006 (Fla. 1993).

The district court affirmed, stating:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Herein, citations to the first volume of the record, which includes documents and the sentencing transcript, appear as (R[page number]). References to the supplemental record, which contains the trial transcript, are designated (T[page number]).

Although such a violation of rule 3.410 would ordinarily constitute *per se* reversible error under <u>Ivory v. State</u>, 351 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1977), here we conclude that the appellant's trial counsel affirmatively waived the issue by communicating to the trial judge his acceptance of the procedure employed when later given an opportunity to object.

<u>Thomas v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D2284a (1st DCA Sept. 26, 1997).

Thomas, the petitioner, seeks conflict review of the district court decision.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In Ivory v. State, 351 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1977), this Court held that a trial court commits reversible error when it responds to a question from the jury without first giving counsel notice and an opportunity to contribute to the answer. As stated in Mills v. State, 620 So. 2d 1006, 1007 (Fla 1993), the Court has reaffirmed the Ivory rule of per se reversible error many times. In Mills, the Court applied the Ivory rule in a case in which the trial court instructed the jury without counsel's prior input, then gave counsel an opportunity to place an objection on the record. 620 So. 2d at 1007. In this case, the district court declined to apply Ivory and reverse Thomas' convictions because, after the fact, counsel offered no objection to the procedure employed by the trial judge. In so holding, the district court created direct, express conflict with Ivory and Mills, which can only be resolved by this Court. Resolution of this conflict will help bench and bar gauge the bounds of the prophylactic rule of Ivory and its progeny. Petitioner prays that the Court will accept this case for review and order briefing on the merits.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO RESOLVE DIRECT, EXPRESS CON-FLICT ON WHETHER AN OPPORTUNITY TO OBJECT AFTER THE JUDGE HAS ENGAGED IN AN UNAUTHOR-IZED COMMUNICATION WITH THE JURY MAY RESULT IN WAIVER OF THE IMPROPRIETY AS AN ISSUE ON APPEAL.

Under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review cases in which the decision of the district court is in direct or express conflict with the decision of this Court or of another district court on the same point of law. This is an appropriate case in which to exercise jurisdiction to resolve conflict between the district court decision and a prior decision of this Court on the subject of unauthorized communication between a judge and jury.

The precise issue is whether an improper judicial communication with the jury can be waived as an issue on appeal by what comes afterward. The district court held that trial counsel waived the issue by acquiescing in the action taken by the court, after the fact. In <u>Mills</u>, this Court indicated that nothing counsel does after the unauthorized communication is of any legal effect. The Court held that Mills' counsel "was not given a meaningful opportunity to argue his position as to how the jury's

question should be answered," and further observed:

There is a substantial difference between allowing discussion before the question is answered and the jury is sent back to deliberate. It is unrealistic to believe a judge would be equally willing to encompass defense counsel's suggestion in both situations, and it is impossible to tell how the judge would have reacted to counsel's suggestions had they been made before the question was answered.

### <u>Id</u>. at 1008.

The petitioner respectfully urges this Court to accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict with this language in Mills created by the district court decision in this case. If the Court accepts jurisdiction and orders briefing on the merits, the petitioner will argue that the district court decision is an aberration, from the line of precedent commencing with Ivory. He will argue that, in accord with <u>Ivory</u> and its progeny, the prophylactic rule of per se reversible error for improper judicial communication with a deliberating jury must be applied to the facts of this case. He will argue that the error cannot be waived when counsel communicates his "acceptance of the procedure employed when later given an opportunity to object," because such an after-the-fact opportunity is not, in the words of Mills, "a meaningful opportunity to argue his position."

Finally, he will explain why this result is necessary to ensure scrupulous compliance with Rule 3.410 and to maintain the vitality of <u>Ivory</u>.

The petitioner requests an opportunity to better articulate his position in a brief on the merits.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments contained herein and the authorities cited in support thereof, the petitioner requests that this Honorable Court will exercise its discretion to accept this case for review, and order briefing on the merits.