FILF SID J. WHITE IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA DEC 1 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

SHAWN THOMAS,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 91,719

By_

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791 CAROLYN J. MOSLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

FLORIDA BAR NO. 593280

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

(850) 414-3300

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State rejects the petitioner's statement of the case and facts because he cites to the record on appeal, rather than limiting himself to the facts in the First District's opinion. The opinion in its entirety states the following:

The appellant contends that his convictions should be reversed because the trial judge committed error when he sent an instruction to the jury during its deliberations without first notifying the prosecutor and defense counsel and giving them an opportunity to discuss the proposed instruction. See Fla.R.Crim.Pro. 3.410. Although such a violation of rule 3.410 would ordinarily constitute per se reversible error under *Ivory v. State*, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977), here we conclude that the appellant's trial counsel affirmatively waived the issue by communicating to the trial judge his acceptance of the procedure employed when later given an opportunity to object. We accordingly affirm the convictions.

Thomas v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly D2284a (Fla. 1st DCA September

26, 1997).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision in the case at bar does not expressly and directly conflict with four decisions from this Court on the same question of law. The trial court in the case at bar asked defense counsel whether he objected to the procedure that was used, and defense counsel affirmatively accepted it. The First District held that by affirmatively accepting the procedure that was used at trial, the defendant could not then claim error in that procedure on appeal.

This issue was not presented in the four cases cited by Thomas. In two of the cases, defense counsel had in fact objected, <u>Ivory</u> and <u>Mills</u>, <u>infra</u>, and in the other two, <u>Curtis</u> and <u>Franklin</u>, <u>infra</u>, the opinions are silent on when and how defense counsel learned of the communication between the judge and the jury. The issues there related to the existence of error (did the judge violate a procedural rule) and its nature (can this error be harmless), not to whether the issue was properly before the Court in the first place, which was what the First District addressed.

- 2 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

DOES THE DECISION IN THE INSTANT CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS IN FOUR CASES FROM THIS COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW? (RESTATED)

Review in the district court is generally "final and absolute." Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958). As with all general rules, however, there are exceptions. One exception is when a decision of the district court "<u>expressly</u> and <u>directly</u> conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Fla. Const., art. V, § 3(b)(3) (e.s.). The express and direct conflict "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction. <u>Reaves, supra;</u> Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980). It is "conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction." <u>Jenkins</u>, 385 So. 2d at 1359.

In the instant case, the First District held that when a trial judge asks defense counsel whether he has any objection to the procedure that was used to communicate with the jury, and instead of objecting, defense counsel affirmatively accepts that procedure, he cannot raise on appeal after his client has been convicted a violation of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410.

- 3 -

To establish express and direct conflict, Thomas, therefore, must have cited a case in which (1) the judge asked defense counsel whether he objected to the procedure that was used; (2) defense counsel had no objection and in fact accepted the procedure; and (3) defense counsel was allowed to raise on appeal the claim of a violation of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410.

The four cases cited by Thomas do not satisfy this test: <u>Ivory v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1977); <u>Mills v. State</u>, 620 So.2d 1006 (Fla. 1993); <u>Curtis v. State</u>, 480 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1986); <u>State v. Franklin</u>, 618 So.2d 171 (Fla. 1993).

In <u>Ivory</u> and <u>Mills</u>, defense counsel objected to the procedure that was used: <u>Ivory</u> at 27 ("After the jury had the [medical] report for approximately 45 minutes, the trial judge ordered it withdrawn, whereupon the **defendant filed a motion for mistrial**"); <u>Mills</u> at 1007 ("After the jury left the courtroom, **defense counsel objected** to the fact that he did not get a chance to discuss the question. He asked the judge to read the entrapment instruction to the jurors so that they would be given a more complete answer to their question. The judge noted the objection and refused defense counsel's request.").

In the other two cases, <u>Curtis</u> and <u>Franklin</u>, we do not know how or when defense counsel learned of the communication. The record is silent.

- 4 -

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court to decline to exercise jurisdiction.